STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner William C. Snead appealed to the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, following his sentence of seven years incarceration as a habitual offender, imposed on a violation of probation. On appeal, Snead argued that the trial court erred in imposing a sentence as a habitual offender, pursuant to Florida Statutes § 775.084 (1989), on a sentence for a violation of probation, where the State never sought to classify Snead as a habitual offender when he was originally sentenced to five years probation for possession of cocaine. The district court in its opinion affirmed the sentence, expressly acknowledging conflict with <u>Scott v. State</u>, 550 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), <u>rev</u>. denied, 560 So. 2d 235 (Fla. 1990); <u>Snead v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 5th 1992) (Appendix A).

Snead was charged by information in circuit court case number **89-5406** with one count of possession of cocaine, and one count of resisting arrest with violence (R4). Both offenses were alleged to have occurred on August **3**, 1989, in Volusia County

(R4). On March 15, 1990, Snead entered a plea of nolo contendere to the charge of possession of cocaine, and as part of the plea agreement the State nolle prossed the second count of the information (R5-6, 11).¹ The trial court adjudicated Snead guilty of the offense, and sentenced him to five years supervised probation (R7-8, 9-10).

Snead began successfully serving his probationary sentence, but on June 3, 1991, an amended affidavit of violation of probation was filed (R15-16). The affidavit alleged that Snead violated various conditions of his probation (R15-16). A written order of revocation of probation was filed on October 25, 1991 (R48).

After having been found guilty of the violation of probation, a sentencing hearing was held on October 10, 1991, before the Honorable Gayle Graziano (R52-58). The State filed notice of its intent to sentence Snead as a habitual offender on July 26, 1991, almost two months after the amended affidavit charging Snead with violating his probation was filed (R17). During the sentencing proceedings, the State entered into evidence certified copies of two prior Florida felony convictions, and a certificate from the governor showing that Snead had not been pardoned on either of the offenses (R24-32,

¹ The Fifth District's opinion in <u>Snead</u>, states, "The plea bargain contemplated a guidelines sentence, but noted the judge could depart upward to a maximum of five years by giving valid written reasons. Nothing was said about the consequences of violating probation and the kind of sentence that might then be imposed." The plea hearing, however, is not included in the record on appeal.

52-53). The date of one of the prior convictions fell within five years of the date of the instant offense (R24-32, 52-53).

Snead's trial counsel objected to the enhancement of Snead's sentence as a habitual offender on a sentence imposed for a violation of probation (R53). The objection was overruled, and the trial court found Snead to be a habitual offender and entered a written order pursuant to this ruling (R54, 39-40). A written judgment was filed reflecting Snead's conviction of possession of cocaine in circuit court case number 89-5406 (R33-34)².

Snead's recommended sentence according to his original guidelines scoresheet was for any nonstate prison sanction (R14). Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988(g) (1989). The employment of the one cell level bump for the violation of probation would have raised his recommended sentence to community control or twelve to thirty months incarceration, with a permitted range of up to three and one half years incarceration. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d)(14) & 3.988(g) (1989). The trial court did not follow the guidelines recommendation, and instead sentenced Snead to seven years incarceration as a habitual offender with credit for time served (R58, 35-36).

On appeal, Snead argued that the trial court erred in sentencing him as a habitual offender upon revocation of his probation, where the State did not filed **its** notice of intent to

² Snead had been previously adjudicated guilty of possession in this case when he was placed on probation. The written judgement filed incorrectly indicates that Snead was tried and found guilty of the offense, where he had originally pled no contest to the charge in 89-5406.



seek enhanced penalties until after Snead was charged with violating conditions of his probation. Snead cited <u>Scott</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Lambert v. State</u>, 545 So. 2d **838** (Fla. **1989)**, in support of this argument.

Snead additionally argued that the trial court's reliance on <u>Williams v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1991), in granting the State's motion to sentence him as habitual offender, was misplaced. This argument was based on the fact that <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>, dealt with the propriety of a departure from a <u>guidelines</u> sentence in sentencing upon a violation of probation, where the reasons for the <u>departure sentence</u> existed prior to a defendant being placed on probation originally. A habitual offender classification is not grounds for departure from the guidelines, and therefore Snead argued that <u>Williams</u> should not have been relied upon for authorizing the habitual offender sentence imposed in the instant case.

Snead further argued that as opposed to <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>, the State in the case <u>sub judice</u>, did not seek habitual offender penalties until after Snead was adjudicated guilty of the crime charged, and placed on probation. Therefore, a sentence under the habitual offender statute was not contemplated when Snead was originally placed on probation, and could not be imposed upon revocation of that probation.

The district court rejected these arguments, citing <u>Williams, supra, and Poore v. State</u>, 531 **So.** 2d 161 (Fla. **1988)**, for the proposition that the trial court was free on a violation

of probation to impose any sentence it might have originally imposed. The district court's opinion contended that the trial court's freedom to impose such a sentence pursuant to <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>, "should include <u>inter alia</u> the imposition of a habitual offender sentence." <u>Snead</u>, 598 So. 2d at 318.

The district court expressly acknowledged conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Scott v. State</u>, 550 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), <u>rev</u>. <u>denied</u>, 560 So. 2d 235 (Fla. 1990). <u>Snead v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d at 318.

A notice to invoke discretionary review was timely filed in the District Court on June 19, 1992. Jurisdiction was accepted by this Honorable Court by an order dated September 28, 1992.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, in the instant case. The opinion expressly and directly conflicts with cases of this Court and other district courts. The Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Scott V. State</u>, **550** So. 2d 111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), <u>rev. denied</u> **560** So. 2d 235 (1990), disapproved of sentencing a defendant to an enhanced term under the habitual offender statute upon a violation of probation. The Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Snead V. State</u>, **598 So.** 2d 316 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), affirmed Petitioner Snead's habitual offender sentence which was imposed after Snead began serving **his** term of probation.

The district court reasoned that the habitual offender sentence was one which could have been imposed originally, and cited <u>Williams v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1991), in support of its decision. Snead, however, could not have been originally subject to the statute where the State did not file a notice or seek enhancement until after Snead was charged with violating his probation. Moreover, Snead's plea agreement d d not contemplate a habitual offender sentence. The district court's opinion permits an overly expansive application of <u>Williams</u>, where <u>Williams</u> only dealt with a departure sentence, and not a habitual offender sentence. The opinion also conflicts with the parameters set forth by the legislature in classifying and sentencing defendants under the habitual offender statute.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IN SNEAD v. STATE, **598 SO.** 2D **316** (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), SHOULD BE REVERSED WITH DIRECTIONS TO VACATE SNEAD'S HABITUAL OFFENDER SENTENCE WHERE THE STATE DID NOT SEEK THE ENHANCED PENALTIES UNDER THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE UNTIL AFTER SNEAD WAS CHARGED WITH A VIOLATION OF PROBATION.

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal expressly and directly conflicts with <u>Scott v. State</u>, **550 so.** 2d **111** (Fla. 4th DCA **1989**), <u>rev</u>. denied, **560** So. 2d 235 (Fla. **1990**), and should be reversed.

The issue raised in Snead's appeal to the district court was squarely raised by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Scott v. State, **550** So. 2d 111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), <u>rev. denied</u>. 560 So. 2d **235 (1990).** The opinion provided in part;

> We doubt that the legislature ever intended that a person could be placed on probation and then, years later, if the probation failed, be subjected to the provisions of the habitual offender statute. In fact, the findings required to order probation are precisely opposite to the findings required to invoke the habitual offender statute. The purpose of habitualization is to protect society against habitual offenders. Probation, on the other hand, may only be imposed if it appears to the court that the defendant is not likely again to engage in a criminal course of conduct and the welfare of society do not require that the defendant presently suffer the penalty imposed by law.

Scott, 550 So. 2d at 112. The court in Scott, <u>supra</u>, found that the this Court's ruling in Lambert v. State, 545 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1989), compelled a reversal of the defendant's habitual offender sentence imposed on a sentence for a violation of probation. ³ The district court in Snead, however, upheld the habitual offender sentence which was imposed after Snead was charged with violating his probation, even though the State did not seek the enhanced penalties prior to Snead's plea agreement or prior to Snead being placed on probation. Petitioner Snead requests that this Honorable Court follow the reasoning set forth in Scott, <u>supra</u>, and quash the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in Snead v. State, 598 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal in Snead, <u>supra</u> based its finding on Williams v. State, 581 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1991), which held that the existence of an escalating pattern of criminal conduct at the original sentencing (wherein a defendant was placed on probation) was a proper basis for a departure sentence for a violation of the defendant's probation. The decision provided, "In Williams, as in this case, the court was imposing a sentence using facts in existence prior to the violation of probation." Snead, 598 So. 2d at 317.

The district court's opinion did not resolve or even address the fact that the habitual offender sentence may not have been an option the trial court could have considered originally,

³ Petitioner recognizes that the holding in Lambert, <u>supra</u>, has been limited by Williams v. State, 594 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1992), wherein this Court ruled that multiple violations of probation may authorize a sentencing court to impose corresponding multiple cell increases in a defendant's guideline sentence. This, however, is a separate issue than imposing a habitual offender classification after a defendant has been found in violation of conditions of probation.



because the State never filed its notice, or sought an enhanced penalty until after the affidavit of violation was filed. The trial court was not imposing a sentence "using facts in existence prior to the violation of probation" because Snead could not have been classified as a habitual offender at the original sentencing hearing. The original affidavit of violation of probation was filed on October 3, 1990 (R12-13). The notice of the State's intent to seek enhanced penalties was filed July 26, 1991, approximately one year and three months after Appellant was adjudicated guilty and sentenced on the charge of possession, and ten months after Snead was charged with violating his probation (R17). An amendment to the affidavit was filed June 3, 1991 (R15-16).

Γ.

Florida Statute § 775.084(3)(b) (1989), provides:

(b) Written notice <u>shall</u> be served on the defendant and his attorney a sufficient time prior to the entry of a plea or prior to the imposition of sentence to as to allow the preparation of a submission on behalf of the defendant (emphasis added).

In Inmon v. State, 383 So. 2d 1103, 1104 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980), this section was interpreted "to mean that the State shall serve notice on the defendant either before he enters a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, or, in the event he enters a plea of not guilty and submits to trial, prior to the imposition of sentence." The State in the instant case, however, never served Snead or his counsel with a notice of intent to seek enhanced penalties until <u>after</u> Snead had served one quarter of his probationary sentence.

Regardless, the district court found that the habitual offender sentence was authorized upon Snead violating his probation with the justification that this was a sentence which could have originally been imposed. Snead, 398 So. 2d at 318. This reasoning is clearly flawed, because the habitual offender sentence was not an option when Snead was first placed on The State never served Snead with the notice required probation. by Florida Statutes § 775.084(3)(b), and therefore the trial court at the original sentencing hearing would not have been authorized to impose a habitual offender sentence. Lack of any notice, written or otherwise, as required by this section is a violation of due process. Massey v. State, 589 So. 2d 336, 337 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (the district court found that actual notice was sufficient under the statute, noting that lack of any notice was a due process violation). Furthermore, if no advance written notice is served, a habitual offender sentence is deemed illegal. Edwards v. State, 576 so. 2d 441 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); Nunziata v. State, 561 So. 2d 1330 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (failure of state to served defendant with any written notice of enhanced penalties renders the habitual offender sentence illegal; lack of harm to the defendant is not the test); Sweat v. State, 570 So. 2d 1111 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (failure to serve advance notice constitutes reversible error; defendant need not demonstrate harm); Grubbs v. State, 412 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). Therefore, as opposed to the situation which arose in Williams, supra, the trial court here was not imposing a habitual offender sentence

which could have been imposed at the time Snead was placed on probation.

Moreover, Snead was not informed, or notified pursuant to the statutory requirements, of the possibility of a habitual offender sentence prior to entering into his original plea agreement with the State to enter a plea to the offense for which Snead was placed on probation. When his plea was entered, Snead's guidelines scoresheet indicated a recommended sentence of any nonstate prison sanction (R14). With a point total of 59, "any nonstate prison sanction" such as probation was the maximum sentence allowable under the rules, even if Snead was sentenced under the top of the permitted range. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988(g) (1989). The trial court sentenced Snead to five years probation for possession of cocaine following the guidelines recommendation, which was the longest period of time he could be placed on probation for the third degree felony offense. § 774.082((3)(d) (1989).

The written plea agreement signed by Snead, his trial counsel, and the prosecutor, provided that Snead understood that his sentence would "be imposed under the Sentencing Guidelines" (R6). Nowhere on the plea agreement is there a reference to the possibility of Snead being sentenced as a habitual offender (R5-6). Snead never bargained for an enhanced sentence when he agreed to plea nolo contendere to possession of cocaine and was placed on probation, and therefore the imposition of a seven year habitual offender sentence upon a violation of this probation is

unquestionably illegal. <u>See McCrav v. State</u>, **578** So. 2d **875** (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (imposition of an enhanced sentence under the habitual offender statute, if the defendant was unaware of the possibility of enhancement prior to entering the plea of nolo contendere was error; defendant entitled to new sentencing hearing or should be permitted to withdraw his plea).

The district court also failed to address Snead's argument that <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>, should not have been relied upon for authorizing the sentence imposed in the instant case, because it dealt with a departure from the guidelines, and not a habitual offender classification. This argument was based on the well established rule that a habitual offender classification is not grounds for departure from the guidelines. <u>Whitehead v. State</u>, **498** So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1986); <u>Moonev v. State</u>, 516 **So.** 2d **333** (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal instead found that upon the revocation of probation "the trial court is free to impose any sentence it might have originally imposed, that should include <u>inter alia</u> the imposition of **a** habitual offender sentence. <u>See Williams...</u> Accordingly, we affirm Snead's sentence but we note conflict with <u>State v. Scott</u>." <u>Snead</u>, 598 So. 2d 318. <u>Williams, supra</u>, sanctioned the **use** of a pattern of criminality for a **departure** sentence on a violation of probation, where the pattern was proven to exist prior to the defendant being originally placed on probation. <u>Williams</u>, 581 **So**. 2d at 146. The district court's leap in logic from the trial court's

ability to impose a departure sentence under Williams, as authority for the proposition that Williams supports the imposition of a habitual offender sentence upon a violation of probation where this enhancement was never sought before, should not be upheld. Enhancement pursuant to the provisions of the habitual offender statute, and a departure based on valid written reasons **are** two **separate** and distinct sentencing provisions. The district court's opinion in <u>Snead</u>, <u>supra</u>, cannot stand where it advocates such an overly expansive interpretation of this Court's opinion in <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(11), expresses that, "Departures form the recommended or permitted guideline sentence should be avoided unless there are circumstances or factors which reasonably justify aggravating or mitigating the sentence." Departures from the guidelines are to be the exception, rather than the rule, and are to be used where these extraordinary or "aggravating" circumstances exist. Where a defendant has prior convictions, the sentencing court may not automatically depart from the guidelines. In the case judice, the trial judge was permitted to increase Snead's sentence from a recommended range (with the one cell bump) of twelve to thirty months incarceration to seven years incarceration with no possibility of receiving the usual gain This was essentially a departure sentence which exceeded time. the statutory maximum, with no written reasons, and with the extra penalty of allowing no gain time. The trial court should

not be permitted to circumvent the rules regarding a departure from the guidelines by imposing a habitual offender sentence upon a violation of probation.

In <u>Ard v. State</u>, 91 So. 2d 166 (Fla. 1956), this Court was faced with a similar fact situation, where the defendant served five years of probation pursuant to a plea agreement and was then brought into court and sentenced as a "second offender" under Florida Statutes § 775.09 (1941). As in the instant case, the prosecutor knew at the time of sentencing that the defendant had a second felony conviction.⁴ This Court observed, "That a man would plead guilty when no witnesses are present to prove his guilt, and in order to obtain probation, take the risk of receiving the more severe penalty that might be inflicted upon him as a second offender [referred to in the opinion as a habitual criminal] challenges the credulity of this court Ard, 91 So. 2d at 169. The opinion went on to state:

> We do not approve agreements by which certain sentenced will be imposed on consideration of pleas of guilty, but when a man is induced to plead guilty as this appellant was and the judge passes upon him **a** sentence in accordance with the inducement, and the prosecutor knows of the prior conviction, and the defendant remains under probation for five years of a seven year term the so-called second conviction cannot support a sentence under Section 775.09, supra.

<u>Id</u>.

As in Ard, the district court's opinion in <u>Snead</u>, creates

⁴ Snead's original scoresheet listed two prior third degree felonies, so the prosecutor was clearly aware of Snead's prior convictions at the time he was placed on probation (R14).

precedent for a situation where a defendant **may** serve eighteen years of a twenty year probationary sentence, and then upon violating the probation be subject to the habitual offender statute for offenses which occurred more than eighteen years before the violation. Florida Statute Section **775.084(1)(a)(2)** limits the period of time by which **a** prior conviction **may** be considered in classifying **a** defendant **as a** habitual offender from release from incarceration or probation to within five years of the instant offense. The decision in <u>Snead</u> would allow a defendant to be habitualized for prior convictions which existed many years prior to the violation of probation, as in the example provided above. This would not seem to be harmonious with the legislative intent behind the recidivist statutes.

Additionally, Florida Statutes § 775.0842 targets defining those persons subject to the habitual offender statute **as** those "under arrest for the omission, attempted commission, or conspiracy to commit any felony in this state . . . A **person** who is charged with violating conditions of probation does not fit into this category.

In conclusion, the decision of the district court of appeal should be reversed, as it conflicts with decisions of this Court and of other district courts. The opinion allows for an overly expansive reading of <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>, which concerned a guidelines sentence, as authority for imposing a habitual offender sentence on a violation of probation. The opinion also permits the State to avoid the notice requirement of the habitual

offender statute, and renders a plea agreement in exchange for a probationary sentence invalid. The opinion in <u>Snead</u> further does not allow for the fact that this enhancement was never contemplated as part of the original plea agreement. If the decision was to be upheld, it would result in a clear violation of the rules set forth regulating sentencing recidivists under the habitual offender statute, and permit defendants to be "habitualized" for offenses which occurred years before a violation of probation. Petitioner Snead requests that this Honorable Court reverse the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, with directions to vacate the sentence for resentencing within the guidelines.

CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the foregoing cases, authorities and policies, the appellant requests that this Honorable Court reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision with directions to vacate Petitioner's sentence and remand for resentencing within the guidelines.