WOOA

SI'D J. WHITE

JAN 22 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ELERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

WILLIAM C. SNEAD,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 80,067

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S MERITS BRIEF

ROBERT A, BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

NANCY RYAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #765910
210 N. Palmetto Ave.
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court's decision in this case should be affirmed. This court's previous decisions construing the sentencing guidelines rules do not preclude habitual offender sentencing after a violation of probation. The habitual offender statute takes all habitual offender sentencing outside the operation of the guidelines altogether.

The State acknowledges that the petitioner was not given written notice, prior to his original plea--which resulted in a probationary split sentence pursuant to the guidelines--that the State would seek habitual offender sentencing. The issue whether written notice must in all be cases be given before entry of a nolo contendere or guilty plea is pending in Ashley v. State, no. 79,159. If this court quashes the Fifth District's decision in Ashley, the State requests this court to remand this case so that it can show that failure to give the statutory notice before the petitioner entered his plea was harmless.

If this court approves the district court's decision in Ashley, the State submits that the petitioner has not shown that he is entitled to any relief from the resentencing order. Petitioner did not allege or show in the trial court that his original nolo contendere plea was induced by the promise of a guidelines sentence. In any event, the results of violating probation are collateral, rather than direct, consequences of entering a guilty or nolo contendere plea.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY SENTENCED THE PETITIONER AS A HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER AFTER HE VIOLATED THE TERMS OF HIS PROBATION.

The State submits that the district court's decision and opinion in this **case** should be approved, since the petitioner has not shown that he is entitled to any relief from the trial court's resentencing order.

In this case, the Fifth District panel certified conflict with the Fourth District's decision in Scott v. State, 550 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), rev. denied 560 So. 2d 235 (Fla. 1990).

Snead v. State, 598 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). In Scott, the defendant pleaded guilty to a second-degree felony, and was specifically advised that if he violated his probation, he could be sentenced up to the fifteen-year statutory maximum. 550 So. 2d at 111. Neither the trial court nor the state referred to the habitual offender statute at Scott's original sentencing. Id. After he violated probation, Scott was sentenced as a habitual offender. On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that it would have affirmed the sentence were it not for this court's recent decision in Lambert v. State, 545 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1989). Scott at 112.

In this case, the original plea agreement refers to a guidelines sentence, but also states that the judge had not committed herself to any specific sentence; the record does not contain the original plea hearing or the original sentencing hearing. The defense objected at resentencing, as a matter of

law, to the defendant's being habitualized for the first time on a violation of probation ("VOP"), but did not assert or show that the original plea was involuntary.

On appeal, the Fifth District held that this court's decision in Williams v. State, 581 **So.** 2d 144 (Fla. 1991) established that Lambert, supra, does not preclude a habitual offender sentence after a VOP. Snead, 598 So. 2d at 317. Lambert stands for the rule that on resentencing after a VOP, the trial courts may not depart upward from the sentencing guidelines except to the extent of the one-cell "bump" permitted by Rule 3.701(d)(14), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. In Williams, supra, 581 So. 2d 144, this court held that a departure sentence may be imposed after a VOP provided the reasons for departure predate the original grant of probation, for two reasons: first, because the "double dipping' problem noted in Lambert does not arise when the departure reason predates the probation, and second, to avoid a deterrent effect on probation. 581 So. 2d at 146.

The State submits that the district court's decision in this case is correct, and that the petitioner's habitual offender sentence should be affirmed. For the reasons set out above, Lambert does not control. The State acknowledges that Rule 3.701(d)(14), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, states without qualification that

Lambert has, of course, **been** modified in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1992), to permit more than one "bump" to correspond with more than one sequential probation violation.

[s]entences imposed after revocation of probation or community control must be in accordance with the quidelines.

However, Section 775.084(4)(\oplus), Florida Statutes (1988 supp.) provides, also without qualification, that sentences imposed pursuant to the habitual offender statute are not subject to the sentencing guidelines. The State submits that to the extent the statute conflicts with 3.701(d)(14), the statute controls.

The portion of 3.701(d)(14) set out above was approved as an addition to that rule by this court, without comment, in 1984. The Florida Bar: Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure (3.701, 3.988--Sentencing Guidelines), 451 So. 2d 824 (Fla. 1984). The Legislature enacted this court's 1984 proposed change to 3.701(d)(14), also without comment, in Chapter 84-328, § 1, at 1772, Laws of Florida. The portion of Section 775.084(4)(e) described above was added to the statute by Chapter 88-131, § 6, at 709, Laws of Florida. When statutes conflict, the most recent expression of the Legislature's intent prevails. E.g., State v. Parsons, 569 So. 2d 437, 438 (Fla. 1990); State v. Dunmann, 427 So. 2d 166, 168 (Fla. 1983).

Moreover, as this court stated in <u>Burdick v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d **267** (Fla. 1992), by passing the 1988 amendment to Section 775.084 "the legislature was saying that the sentencing guidelines were no longer a limitation on habitual offender sentencing, regardless of the sentence imposed." 594 So. 2d at **270.** It is highly improbable that the Legislature meant, by passing the **1988** amendment, to exempt all habitual offender

sentences from the guidelines, except those imposed on defendants who are given a last chance on probation and who fail to comply with the conditions agreed to. See <u>Dunmann</u>, supra, 427 So. 2d at 168 (Legislature's apparent intentions are to guide courts in determining whether earlier statute repealed by implication).

The habitual offender statute also provides that

Written notice shall be served on the defendant and his attorney a sufficient time prior to the entry of a plea or prior to the imposition of sentence so as to allow the preparation of a submission on behalf of the defendant.

Section 775.084(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991). The issue whether the statutory notice is untimely if given after the defendant enters his plea, but before sentencing, is pending in Ashley v State, no. 79,159. The State submits that the Fifth District Court's decision in Ashley v. State, 590 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), is correct, and that the statute requires only sufficient notice for the defendant to prepare a submission to be made on his behalf at sentencing. Id. at 28.

In the event this court quashes the district court's decision in <u>Ashley</u>, the State requests this court to remand this case so that it can show that failure to give the statutory notice before Mr. Snead entered his plea was harmless. See <u>Massey v. State</u>, 17 Fla. L. Weekly 723 (Fla. December 3, 1992). The record of this case does not show whether the petitioner was on actual notice, at the time of the ariginal plea, that he could be habitualized if he violated probation.

In the event this court approves the district court's decision in <u>Ashley</u>, the State submits that Mr. Snead has not shown that he is entitled to any relief from the resentencing order. Mr. Snead did not assert or show, at resentencing or on appeal—although he does now assert²—that his original nolo contendere plea was induced by the promise of a guidelines sentence.

In any event, the results of violating probation are collateral, rather than direct, consequences of entering a guilty or nolo contendere plea. Even if the petitioner had no actual notice, at the time he entered his plea, that he could be habitualized if he violated his probation, this court's decisions establish that he would be entitled to no relief. In Segarra v. State, 388 So. 2d 1017 (Fla. 1980), the defendant, charged with a second-degree felony, negotiated an agreement to plead guilty in exchange for a five-year cap on possible sentences. Id. at 1017. He received five years' probation, violated the probation, and received a fifteen-year prison sentence. This court quashed the district court's decision reversing the sentence, holding that

so long as **the** probation imposed complies with the plea agreement, the court has fulfilled the **plea** bargain and the violation of probation **opens** a new chapter in which the court ought **to** be able to mete out any punishment within the limits prescribed for the crime.

Id. at 1018.

² Petitioner's brief on the merits at 11.

In <u>Bilyou v. State</u>, 404 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1981), the defendant had negotiated a plea agreement calling for "a cap of ten years probation as a possible sentence." <u>Id</u>. at 744. After he violated probation, Bilyou was sentenced to fifteen years in prison; this court approved the district court's decision affirming the prison sentence, citing the language quoted above from <u>Segarra</u>. 404 So, 2d at 745. The Fourth District Court of Appeal relied on that language in <u>Bilyou</u> and <u>Segarra</u> to hold in <u>Zambuto v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 461 (Fla. 4th <u>DCA</u> 1982), that habitual offender sentencing after a VOP is a collateral consequence of entering the initial plea. 413 So. 2d at 463-4.

The State submits that <u>Zambuto</u> is correct on this point, and that Mr. Snead's current prison term is the direct consequence of his own failure to comply with the terms of probation.

The petitioner also argues in his merits brief that a habitual offender sentence is not one of the sentences the trial court originally could have given in this case, because the State did not file notice of its intent to habitualize him until after he violated his probation. The argument rests on the fallacious premise that the trial courts cannot impose habitual offender sentences unless the State files such a notice. See Toliver v. State, 605 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), rev. pending, no. 80,766 (Fla. 1992).

The petitioner further relies on <u>Ard v. State</u>, 91 **So.** 2d 166 (Fla. 1956). The state submits that his reliance on that case is misplaced. This court's opinion states that Ard was successfully serving a probationary term when a newly-elected County

Solicitor filed a new information charging appellant for the same crime he was on probation for, alleging for the first time that Ard was a second offender subject to enhanced punishment.

91 So. 2d at 167, 168. This court reversed the trial court's order revoking Ard's probation and imposing a prison sentence, noting that

[t]here is no evidence that the appellant had violated the conditions of his probation or that any effort had been made to revoke it. After having been on probation for five years he was hailed into court and sentenced to serve five years in the penitentiary because of a former conviction which was known to the county solicitor at the time he agreed to the ... probation.... The statement that the county solicitor had promised that no more would be heard of the matter, if the appellant observed the conditions of his probation, was not contradicted.

Id. at 168. This case, of course, is distinguishable on the basis that Snead did violate his probation.

Petitioner further argues that the district court's opinion should be disapproved because it would permit habitual offender sentencing of defendants whose most recent prior felony took place more than five years before the violations that caused them to be resentenced. The argument has no merit; a defendant being sentenced after a VOP is sentenced for the original offense, not the violation. Violation of probation is not a crime in Florida. Lambert, supra, 545 So. 2d at 841. In any event, Mr. Snead was incarcerated as recently as 1988 for the most recent of the prior felonies relied on by the State at

resentencing; the original offense involved in this case took place in 1989; the violations of probation took place in 1990. (R 24-8, 4, 48)

Reversing the district court's decision in this case would have a deterrent effect on granting probation. See Williams, supra, 581 So. 2d at 146. It would be consistent neither with the Legislature's apparent intentions nor with sound public policy to reverse the Fifth District's decision in this case. The State requests this court to affirm the decision and opinion of the district court.

CONCLUSION

The state requests this court to approve the decision **and** opinion af the district court.

If this court quashes the district court's decision in Ashley v. State, 590 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), rev. qranted no. 79,159 (Fla. 1992), and quashes the decision in this case on the basis of Ashley, the State requests this court to remand this case so that it can show that failure to give the statutory notice before the petitioner entered his plea was harmless. See Massey v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly 723 (Fla. December 3, 1992).